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M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977 (30 U.S.C. 888§ 815(d), 820(a),
820(c)). They involve a citation issued by the Secretary of
Labor’s (Secretary) Mne Safety and Health Adm nistration (MSHA)
as the result of an investigation of an accident at the

Mar bl ehead Quarry of Standard Lafarge (Lafarge) (also known as
Laf arge Construction Materials (Tr. 9)). The quarry is |ocated
in OGtawa County, OChio.

The citation alleges that Lafarge violated mandatory safety
standard 30 C.F. R 856.16002(a)(1) when a mner who clinbed into
a surge bin to work was trapped by falling rock. Section
56.16002(a) (1) requires surge bins to be “[e]quipped with
mechani cal devices or other effective nmeans of handling materials
so that during normal operations persons are not required to
enter or work where they are exposed to entrapnment by caving or
sliding mterials”. |In addition, the citation alleges that the
viol ation was a significant and substantial contribution to a
m ne safety hazard (S&S) and was due to Lafarge’s high negligence
and unwarrantable failure to conply (30 U.S.C. 8§ 815(d)(1).

Lafarge contested the citation, asserting that it did not
state a violation. Al so, Lafarge challenged the citation’ s S&S,
unwar r ant abl e, and negligence findings.

After the citation was issued, the Secretary petitioned the
Commi ssion to assess Lafarge a civil penalty of $3,800 and to
assess Theodore Dress, the foreman in charge at the tinme of the
accident, a civil penalty of $3,000. Lafarge and Dress
chal | enged the petitions.

A hearing was conducted in Tol edo, Ohio, at which the
parties presented oral testinony and docunentary evi dence.
Subsequently, counsels filed hel pful briefs.

THE | SSUES

The principal issues with regard to Lafarge are whether it
vi ol ated section 56.16002(a)(1); if so, whether the violation was
S&S and unwarrant abl e, and the anmpbunt of the civil penalty that
must be assessed, taking into consideration the statutory civil
penalty criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the Act (30
U S.C 8820(i)).

The principal issues with regard to Dress are whether the
al |l eged violation occurred, whether he know ngly authori zed,
ordered, or carried it out, and, if so, the anmount of the civil
penalty that nust be assessed, taking into consideration the
applicabl e section 110(i) criteria.



STl PULATI ONS

The parties stipul ated that:

1. The Marbl ehead Quarry is owned and operated by
Lafarge ... [and] is subject to the ... Act;

2. [T]he Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction
to hear and decide the matters;

3. Inspector Janes D. Strickler, who issued
[the c]itation [,]... is a duly authorized
representative of the Secretary;

4. [A] copy of the [c]itation ... was served on
Lafarge ... and on Dress ...;

5. [I]nposition of any appropriate civil noney
penalty will not affect the ability of Lafarge ... to
conti nue in business;

6. Lafarge ... is a large operator;

7. [T]he assessed violation history report [ Gov.
Exh. 1] may be used in determ ning an appropriate civil
nmoney penalty (Tr. 8-9).

In addition to the stipulations, counsel for the Secretary
agreed that Lafarge had a small nunber of pervious violations.
He characterized the conpany’s history of violations as “good”
(Tr. 130). Counsel also agreed that Dress had no applicable
hi story of violations (Tr. 130).

THE ACCI DENT, THE | NVESTI GATI ON, AND THE Cl TATI ON

The Marbl ehead Quarry is a dolomtic |inmestone extraction
and processing facility. The operation enconpasses 2,500 acres
and produces 3,500,000 tons of |inmestone a year (Tr. 89). At the

quarry, limestone shot fromthe face is transported to the
primary crusher, where it is reduced in size to 10 inches or
smaller. It is then transported by two conveyor belts to a surge

bin. The crushed linmestone is dunped fromthe belts into the
bin. Wen the bin is vibrated the stone passes through the bin
and falls onto a conveyor belt below the bin. The stone then
travels along the belt to other facilities for further processing
(Tr. 14-15,51,90; Resp. Exh.1).



The surge bin is approximtely 22 feet wi de, 22 feet |ong,
and 13 feet high (Tr. 91-92). At the bottomof the bin are a
chute and vibrating feeders (Tr. 55, 92). The feeders allow the
rock to flow evenly out of the chute and onto the | ower conveyor
belt (Tr. 52). The chute and vibrators, which are integral parts
of the bin, hang below the bin floor.

The floor is flat. It has two rectangul ar openings in the
mddle (Tr. 47, 92). As stone falls into the bin fromthe
over head conveyor belts, it piles on the floor between the two
openings. As the vibrators shake the bin, the rock “sloughs off”
the piles and falls through the openings, into the chute, and
onto the | ower conveyor belt (Tr. 96).

The bin was installed at the quarry in 1992. Wen the bin
was first used, sone of the rock around the openi ngs was
conpacted. This rock is so solid that it only can be renoved by
chiseling or by using high pressure water hoses (Tr. 41, 45, 90,
95). The solid material is called the “dead bed” (29). The dead
bed forns ridges around the openings in the bin floor. Rock on
the sides of the ridges opposite the openings slids away fromthe
openi ngs and does not pose a hazard to anyone wor ki ng bel ow.

Rock on the other sides of the ridges slids down through the
openings (Tr. 41, 49-50; 96 see also Tr. 42-43; Resp Exh. R-2).

Davi d Nel son, the plant nmanager, testified that mners did
not “regularly” work around the bin and that it was not a
“standard practice” for soneone to work at or in the bin (Tr. 92-
93). Nelson believed mners worked inside the bin approxi mately
one tinme a year (Tr. 94-95). Nel son was famliar with the bin
because his duties required himdaily to check it (Tr. 96-97).

When a m ner was assigned to work inside the bin, the nornal
procedure at the quarry was to run the vibrators until the sensor
at the bin control tower indicated the bin was enpty. Then, the
vibrators were left running for an additional tinme to shake out
and di sl odge anything remaining in the bin (Tr. 97-98). After
that, all of the electricity to the bin was di sconnected (Tr.
98). However, Nelson admtted that because the bin had not been
enptied that often in the past, Lafarge officials did not know
“automatically” howlong it took to clean out the bin (Tr. 105).

According to Nel son, when Lafarge’ s enployees had to work in
the bin, they were instructed “to check the bin for |oose
material, look at it and use [their] own judgnment” (Tr. 98-99).
Usual | y, enpl oyees | ooked into the bin frombelow. They were
closer to any remaining material if they |ooked from bel ow t hen



if they |ooked from above (Tr 100). Nel son agreed, however, that
if mners |ooked into the bin fromthe top, they would get a
“different perspective” (1d.) Nelson was of the opinion, that if
| oose material remained in the bin after it had been vibrated,
the only way to ensure safety was to go to the top of bin, take a
bar, and knock out the | oose the material (Tr. 105-106).

On July 15, 1994, Dani el Harder worked as a | aborer at the
quarry. He had been at the quarry for less than two years, but
he had a I ong work history at other quarries (Tr. 33-34). Dress
was Harder’s foreman. Dress’s duties were to supervise nmners
and to oversee production (Tr. 111-112).

As Dress cane to work on July 15, the surge bin was
operating normally. However, Dress noticed sand | eaking through
a hole near the bottomof the bin. Dress |ooked at the hole and
decided that it should be patched. He al so decided that the
patch could be applied frominside the bin (Tr. 112-113).

To get the bin ready for the repair work, Dress ordered that
the vibrators be kept operating. As has been noted, this was the
procedure normally used to clean | oose rock out of the bin (Tr.
40, 98, 113). The vibrators operatored for approximtely 20
m nutes to a half hour nore.

Dress told Harder and another miner, Brian Chum ey, to go
the bin. In the neantine, Dress went to the building housing the
controls of the bin, disconnected the bin's electricity, and
| ocked out its electrical circuits.

Dress then went to the bin. Harder and Chuml ey were there.
Dress and Harder | ooked into the bin frombelow (Tr. 113-114).
Dress saw “a cone ... of hard-packed fines ... like a wall of
har d- packed sand. And |aying up above ... on the other |evel
[ was] sone | oose surge material” (Tr. 116-117). Dress did not
believe any of this material could fall (Tr. 117). As he
recalled, the rock was lying on the side of the dead bed away
fromthe opening (Tr. 41). According to Dress, he and Harder
di scussed the situation and concluded that it was safe for Harder
to patch the hole (1d.).

Har der essentially agreed with Dress. Wen Harder | ooked
into the bin, he too saw sone rock, but |ike Dress, Harder did
not believe that it would fall. Harder did not think that the
situation was dangerous (Tr. 21, 24-25, 57). Both Dress and
Harder stated that if the rock had | ooked | oose, they woul d have
gone to the top of the bin and knocked it out with a bar.



Wi | e Harder prepared to patch the hole, Dress left to find
Har der a wooden bock upon which to stand so that Harder could
better reach the hole. Wen Dress returned, Harder had cli nbed
up into the bin and did not need the block (Tr. 118-119). This
was the first time Harder had worked inside of the bin.

Once inside, Harder began to weld the patch over the hole.
Dress remai ned outside, along with Chum ey (Tr. 22). No other
mners were working in the vicinity. During the course of the
repair work, Dress and Chum ey left so that Chuml ey could do
other work (Tr. 22, 53, 93). However, Dress returned
periodically to check on Harder (Tr. 53).

Har der wel ded for approximtely 45 m nutes. He was al nost
fini shed when he heard rocks begin to fall around him Harder
jumped down to get out of the bin. Harder nanaged to got his
head out of the bottom opening, and he assuned a crouched
position. Rocks continued to fall about his back and shoul ders.
He could not get all of the way out (Tr. 23, 37). Fortunately
for Harder, Dress had returned. He cane imediately to Harder’s
aid. He hel ped Harder renove sone of the rocks, and Harder was
able to free hinself (1d.).

Har der estimated that he was trapped for about five m nutes
(Tr. 36). He suffered mnor cuts. Dress took himfor first aid,
and asked if Harder wanted to go hone. Harder responded that he
felt “okay” (Tr.37). He stayed and finished the shift. \When
descri bing the experience, Harder stated, “[l]t was scary, that's
for sure” (Ld.).

In October 1995, Strickler was conducting an inspection at
the quarry when an enpl oyee told himabout the accident (Tr. 64).
Strickler investigated and concl uded there had been a violation
of section 56.16002(a)(1). In Strickler’s view, the violation
centered around the conpany’s failure to renove the | oose
mat eri al before Harder entered the bin (Tr. 77-78, 79-80).
Strickler stated:

There was a buildup of material in ... [the bin].
They observed it. They tried to make a correction, but
it was still there. They nmade no other attenpt to

renove the material above the individual and put himin
that situation (Tr. 65, see also Tr. 76-77).

In Strickler’s opinion, to conply with the standard Dress
shoul d have “made sure that there wasn't any | oose material in
[the] bin” (Tr. 82). The conpany should have run the vibrators
nmore and shoul d have barred down the rock fromthe top of the



bin, if necessary (Tr. 68). Strickler stated; “That’s taking a
little bit nore time and nore precaution. And evidently, there
had to be | oose stuff in there because sonething cane | oose and
covered ... [Harder] up” (Ld.).

Strickler testified that the violation was abated when the
conpany “had a safety neeting and instructed the enployees on
wor ki ng i nside bins and hoppers” (Tr. 127). As best Strickler
could recall, the instruction concerned the use of safety belts
and |ines when going into hoppers (d.). It also involved
instructions in the procedures to take when renoving | oose
material frombins, e.g., running the vibrators. Abatenent did
not include the installation of any additional devices on the
bin (Tr. 128).

Strickler cited the conpany pursuant to section 104(a) of
the Act (30 U.S.C. 8§ 814(a)). After discussing the citation wth
hi s supervisor, Strickler nodified it to one issued pursuant to
section 104(d)(1) (Tr. 67-68). The nodification was based on
Strickler’s belief that the violation was due to Lafarge’s
unwarrantable failure to conpany with section 56.16002(a)(1). He
expl ained that the conpany knew that rock had built up in the
bi n, neverthel ess Dress assigned Harder to work inside the bin
(Tr. 68). Strickler also believed that the conpany was “highly
negligent” (Tr. 69). Finally, Strickler found that the violation
was S&S because he believed it reasonably |ikely that Harder
woul d have suffocated (Tr. 69).

THE MOTI ON TO DI SM SS

Fol | ow ng presentation of the Secretary’ s case-in-chief,
counsel for Lafarge and Dress noved to dism ss the proceedings.
Counsel argued that the Secretary had not proven a violation, in
that section 56.16002(a)(1l) states its requirenents are
appl i cabl e during “normal operations”, and patching the hole in
the bin “was definitely not a part of the normal operations” (Tr.
85). Counsel for the Secretary responded that patching the hole
constituted mai ntenance of the bin and that “nmaintenance is
consi dered part of ... normal operations” (Tr.86). | agreed with
counsel for the Secretary, and denied the notion (d.).

THE VI OLATI ON

The first issue is whether there was a violation of section
56.16002(a)(1). |If not, Lafarge s contest nust be granted and
the Secretary’s civil penalty proceedi ngs di sm ssed.

Citation No. 4413670 states:



On 7-15-94 a mai ntenance enployee was required to
performthe task of welding a netal patch on the inside
of [the] ... surge bin. The enployee started out by
standing on top of the vibrating feeder, in order to
gain a better angle to weld, he clinbed up inside the
bin. After a short period of tinme, |oose materi al
began to fall, the enployee attenpted to exit the
di scharge chute, when the | oose material entrapped
him... The foreman at the scene was able to free him
by renoving sone of the |arge rocks and getting himoff
the feeder (Gov. Exh. 3).

Subsequently, the citation was nodified as foll ows:

It was managenent’s responsibility to take the
necessary precautions to elimnate the hazards
i nvol ved, [p]rior to assigning an enployee to the task
of welding a nmetal patch on the inside of the ... bin.
After running the bin vibrators to renove nost of the
material frominside the bin, managenent observed
material attached to the sides of the bin but nmade no
attenpt to renove | oose material prior to the work
being started (1d. at 2).

Subpart O of the regulations for netal and nonnetal m nes
contains standards for “Materials Storage and Handling”. Section
56. 16002 of Subpart O contains standards for “[Db]ins, hoppers,
silos, tanks, and surge piles.” As noted, section 56.16002(a)(1)
states in pertinent part

(a) Bins ... where | oose unconsolidated materials
are stored, handled or transferred shall be —
(1) Equi pped with mechani cal devices or other effective
means of handling materials so that during normal
operations person are not required to enter or work
where they are exposed to entrapnent by the caving or
sliding of material s[.]

The wordi ng of the standard nmakes clear that the specified
facilities used for storing and handling materials —bins,

hoppers, silos, etc. —nust either be equi pped with nmechani cal
devices or with other neans so that persons are not required to
enter or work where they are exposed to entrapnent. It also

makes clear that the standard is applicable during nornma
oper ati ons.

Here, the vibrators were the “nechani cal devices” with which
the bin was equi pped to prevent persons from being trapped. They



were an integral part of the bin. Although they were used
primarily to shake stone into the feeder and to facilitate its
even flow onto the belt below, they also could be and were used
to conply with the standard. (Strickler and Dress essentially
agreed that the conpany tried to elimnate all of the | oose
material by running the vibrators until the |oose rock was
cleared fromthe bin (see especially Tr. 65, 76-77).) That the
mechani cal devices had a dual purpose does not prevent them from
meeting the singular goal of the standard.

In addition to the “mechani cal devices” required by the
standard, the record supports finding the bin was equi pped with
anot her “effective neans” to prevent entrapnent. The inspector
and Lafarge’s witnesses agreed that a bar could be used from
above to knock down and elimnate | oose nmaterial (Tr. 68, 105-
106, Tr. 120). \VWhile it is true that unlike the vibrators, the
bar was not attached to bin, the bin was nonethel ess *equi pped”
with the bar in that the it readily was avail abl e when necessary
(Tr. 120) (Webster’s Third New International Dictionary768
(1968)).

Since the bin was equi pped with nechani cal devices to
prevent persons from working where they were exposed to
entrapnment by caving or sliding materials, Lafarge was required
to use the devices to achieve the mandated result. |In other
words, Lafarge was required to operate the vibrators to clear the
| oose rock so that Harder would not be trapped. |If its operation
of the vibrators did not sufficiently clear the rock, Lafarge was
required to make sure a bar was used to conplete the task. In
ot her words, under the standard, both the means for achieving the
end and effective use of the neans were required.

By failing to operate the vibrators to elimnate all of the
| oose rock, and by failing to ensure that the remaining | oose
rock was barred down prior to Harder entering the bin, Lafarge
viol ated the standard, provided patching the hole was a “nornal
operation”.

As used in the standard, “normal” connotes a regular or
periodic pattern (see Webster’s 1540). Nelson, the plant
manager, testified that m ners worked inside the bin
approxi mately once a year (Tr. 94-95). Thus, they were regularly
exposed, al beit on an annual basis, to the hazards of such work.
Thi s periodi c exposure was sufficient to make such work a “normal
operation”.

In addition, the hole in the bin, was the result of the
regul ar use of the bin. Repair of the hole was sinply a



necessary extension of this regular use and, as counsel for the
Secretary argued, in this way too was a “nornal operation”.

Therefore, | conclude that Lafarge violated the standard.

S&S AND GRAVITY

A violation is properly designated S&S, "if, based upon the
particul ar facts surrounding the violation there exists a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
inan injury or illness of a reasonably serious nature” nent
Di vision, National Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981)).
There are four things the Secretary nust prove to sustain an S&S
findi ng:

(1) the underlying violation of a
mandat ory safety standard; (2) a discrete
safety hazard -- that is, a neasure of danger
to safety contributed to be the violation;
(3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard

contributed to will result in an injury; and
(4) a reasonable likelihood that the injury
in question wll be of a reasonably serious

nature (Mathies Coal Co 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4
(January 1984); see also Austin Power Co. V.
Secretary, 861 F.2d 99, 104-105 (5th Cir.
1988) (approving Mathies criteria).

Here, the Secretary has proven all four. There was a
vi ol ati on of section 56.16002(a)(1). It contributed to a neasure
of danger to safety in that the failure to ensure the vibrators
were used effectively or that a bar was used to elimnate the
remai ni ng | oose rock, neant that a person entering the bin was
subject to being trapped by the rock. Moreover, there was a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to would result
inan injury. Gven Harder’s presence under the rock and given
the work he was doing, the |loose rock was likely to fall on
Harder at any tinme and to subject himto crushing injuries or
suffocation. Harder was |ucky. He suffered only m nor cuts.
However, it was reasonably likely that he would have been nore
severely injured or even kill ed.

In addition to being a significant and substanti al
contribution to a mne safety hazard, the violation was very
serious. It long has been held that to determ ne the gravity of
a violation, the violation should be analyzed in terns of its
potential hazard to the safety of mners and the probability of
t hat hazard occurring (Robert G Lawson Coal Co., 1 IBMA 115, 120
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(May 1972)). The potential hazard was injury due to cuts and/or
br oken bones, or death due to asphyxiation. Because Harder was

required to work in the i medi ate presence of |oose rock, it was
probabl e that an acci dent causing serious injury or even causing
deat h woul d happen

UNWARRANTABLE FAI LURE AND NEG.I GENCE

Unwarrantable failure is “aggravated conduct, constituting
nmore than ordinary negligence, by a mne operator in relation to
a violation of the Act” (Enery Mning Corporation 9 FMSHRC 1997
(Decenber 1987); Youghi ogheny & Chio Coal Co., 9 FMSHRC 2007
(Decenber 1987)). Unwarrantable failure is characterized by such
conduct as “reckless disregard,” “intentional m sconduct,”
“indifference,” or a “serious |ack of reasonable care” Enery,

9 FMSHRC at 2003-04).

Whil e the violation was not caused by intentional
m sconduct, the conpany was guilty of a serious |ack of
reasonabl e care. First, patching the hole frominside the bin
potentially was a very dangerous job. Any m ner assigned to do
the job was subject to being injured or killed unless | oose rock
above the m ner was renoved. This potential threat required
hei ght ened precautions on the part of Lafarge and those acting
for it. Rather than exhibit heightened care, the conpany and
Dress relied on procedures normally used at the quarry to make
sure the bin was safe.

The evidence | eads inescapably to the conclusion that no one
at Lafarge knew enough about enptying the bin to be certain that
t he procedures were adequate. As has been noted, the procedures
i nvol ved the visual exam nation of the bin from below after the
vi brators had been run for approximately 25 mnutes (Tr. 101-102,
117), and for a “judgnent call” based on the exam nation (Tr.98).
Nel son candidly admtted that Lafarge officials did not
“automatically” know how long it took to clear the bin, because
they had not done it that often (Tr. 105). Mbreover, visual
i nspection frombelow did not give a sufficiently ful
perspective of what remained in the bin. Inspection from above
al so was necessary (see Tr. 74, 79-80). |In view of these
factors, it was not enough for the conpany to have mners “l ook
at it and use [their] own judgenent” to determ ne whether or not
| oose rock remained (Tr. 98). The conpany shoul d have required
nor e.

For exanple, before a mner entered the bin, the conpany

shoul d have nandated i nspection from both bel ow and above and
shoul d have required that a bar be used from above, no matter how
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I ong the vibrators had run.

To put the matter another way, given the conpany’ s relative
unfam liarity with enptying the bin and given the danger inherent
in the work assignnment, the conpany should have erred, if at all
on the side of safety. |Its failure to nake sure that the normal
prewor k procedure did not involve nore than vibrating the bin for
a period it believed, but was not certain, was adequate, and did
not involve nore than mners, who were unfamliar wth assessing
what they saw, visually inspecting the bin, represented a serious
| ack of reasonable care. | conclude therefore that the violation
was caused by the unwarrantable failure of Lafarge to conply with
t he standard.

Havi ng concl uded the conpany exhibited a serious |ack of
reasonable care in allowng the violation to exist, | also
concl ude that the conpany comnmensurately was negligent.

ClVIL PENALTY ASSESSMENT

The violation was very serious. Lafarge was extenely | ucky
Har der was not di sabled, or worse. The violation was caused by
the conpany’s serious |ack of care. These criteria, along with
the conpany’s large size, would warrant a substantial penalty, if
t hey stood al one. However, the are balanced by the mtigating
ef fect of the conpany’s pronpt abatenent of the violation and by
its small history of previous violations.

The violation was not part of a pattern of neglect of the
conpany’s statutory responsibilities. Rather, as indicated by
the conpany’s history of previous violations, it was nore in the
nature of an isolated incident. Although, the Secretary has
proposed a civil penalty of $3,800, |I conclude that a penalty of
$2, 500 shoul d be assessed.

KNOW NG VI OLATI ON

Section 110(c) of the Act provides for the assessnent of a
civil penalty when any agent of a corporation “know ngly [ has]
aut hori zed, ordered, or carried out” a violation of a mandatory
health or safety standard (30 U. S.C. §8 820(c)). Since there is
no di spute about the corporate status of Lafarge and Dress’
status as an agent, the critical question is whether, as the
Secretary all eges Dress know ngly violated section
56.16002(a) (1).

The Comm ssion has approved the description of “know ngly”
found in U.S. v. Sweet Briar, Inc.,92 F. Supp. 777 (WD.S.C
1950)). There, the court stated that the word:
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does not have any neaning of bad faith or evil
purpose or crimnal intent. |Its meaning is rather that
used in contract |law, where it neans know ng or having
reason to know. A person has reason to know when he
has such information as would | ead a person exerci sing
reasonabl e care to acquire know edge of the
fact in question or to infer its existence
(92 F. Supp at 780).

The Conmm ssion has found that this interpretation:

is consistent wwth both the statutory | anguage and

the renedial intent of the ... Act (Kenny Ri chardson 3
FMSHRC 8, 16 (January 1981), aff’'d, 689 F.2d 623 (6th
Cr. 1982).)

It has explained that:

If a person in a position to protect enployee
safety and health fails to act on the basis of
information that gives himknow edge or reason to know
of the existence of a violative condition, he has acted
know ngly and in a manner contrary to the renedi al
nature of the statute (Kenny Ri chardson 3 FMSHRC at
16).

In addition, the Comm ssion has held that to violate section
110(c), the person’s conduct nmust be “aggravated”, i.e., it nust
i nvol ve nore than ordinary negligence. Wom ng Fuel Co, 16
FMSHRC 1618, 1630 (August 1994); Beth Energy M nes, Inc., 14
FMSHRC 1232, 1245 (August 1992).

It is certain that Dress did not intentionally violate the
standard. Harder was sure that Dress never would assign himto do
a job that Dress believed was dangerous, and | agree (Tr. 24).
The respect Dress and Harder had for one another was apparent at
the hearing. Both clearly were troubl ed by what had happened and
relieved and grateful the consequences had been slight.

This said, it also is clear that intent is not the issue.
Rat her, and as expl ained by the Conmm ssion, the question is
whet her Dress shoul d have known of the violation and whet her he
exhi bited nore than ordinary negligence in allow ng the violation
to occur.

As a foreman, Dress had a high standard of care to the
conpany for whom he worked and to the m ners who worked pursuant
to his directions. Wen Dress assigned Harder to work under
conditions that were potentially very hazardous, it becane
i ncunmbent upon himto neet a standard of care proportionate with
the danger. Rather than do this, Dress relied on the usual
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procedures of running the vibrators and of visual inspecting the
bin frombelow in order to assess and renove the danger, and, as
| have found, these procedures were whol ely inadequate.

Because of the unfamliarity of conpany personnel wth
enptying the bin, because of the unfamliarity of mners with
working in the bin, because Harder never had worked in the bin
before, there were too many uncertainties involved gee Tr. 105).
In view of them and of the fact that Harder easily could have
been trapped, severely injured, or killed if he m sjudged the
situation, Dress should have know that | oose material m ght
remai n and should have insisted that the bin be viewed from above
and a bar be used. He did not.

| conclude, therefore, that Dress should have known of the
violation and that his failure represented nore than ordinary
negligence. As a result, he know ngly violated the standard.

ClVIL PENALTY ASSESSMENT

This was a very serious violation, and Dress exhibited nore
than ordinary negligence in failing to make sure that Harder was
not exposed to entrapnent by sliding and falling rock. The
Secretary has proposed that Dress pay a civil penalty of $3,000.
However, | find it incongruous that the Secretary proposes Dress,
an individual, pay a civil penalty greater than three fourths the
anount of that proposed for Lafarge, a | arge operator.

Mor eover, al though Dress used bad judgenent in placing
Harder in harm s way, there is no suggestion that Dress was
habitual ly careless in assigning mners to work in violation of
mandat ory safety standards. |ndeed, the conpany’s overall good
hi story of previous violations and the fact that Dress has no
appl i cabl e history of previous violations suggests exactly the
opposite (Tr. 130).

In view of the fact that the violation appears to have been

the result of a single, isolated | apse of judgnent on Dress’s
part, | conclude that a penalty of $500 is appropriate.

ORDER

DOCKET NO. LAKE 95-114-RM

Cl TATI ON _NO. DATE 30 CF.R
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4413570 10/ 5/ 94 § 56.16002(a) (1)

The citation is AFFI RMED, and DOCKET NO LAKE 95-114-RM i s
DI SM SSED.

DOCKET NO. LAKE 95-239-M

PROPOSED ASSESSED
Cl TATI ON_NO. DATE 30 CF.R PENALTY PENALTY
4413570 10/5/94 8§ 56.16002(a)(1) $3,800 $2, 500

Lafarge is ORDERED to pay a civil penalty of $2,500 within
30 days of the date of this decision.

DOCKET NO. LAKE 95-28-M

PROPOSED ASSESSED
Cl TATI ON_NO. DATE 30 CF.R PENALTY PENALTY
4413570 10/5/94 8§ 56.16002(a)(1) $3,000 $500

Dress is ORDERED to pay a civil penalty of $500 within
thirty days of the date of this decision.

Upon recei pt of the paynents, DOCKET NO. LAKE 95-239-M and
DOCKET NO. LAKE 95-28-M are DI SM SSED.

David F. Barbour
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Patrick L. DePace, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Dept. O
Labor, 881 Federal Ofice Bldg., 1240 East Ninth Street,

Cl evel and, OH 44199 (Certified Miil)

WIlliamK. Doran, Esq., Smth, Heenan & Althen, 1110 Ver nont
Ave., N.W, Suite 400, Washington, D.C. 20005-3593 (Certified
Mai | )
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